1959

# In the Matter of the Estates of William Robert Williams and Sarah Corless Williams, Gladys Williams aka Tania Karol : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On September 12, 1958, William Robert Williams died intestate in Salt Lake City, having been predeceased by his wife, Sarah Corless Williams, who also died intestate. On September 26, 1958, Inez Williams Warshaw filed a Petition for Letters of Administration (R. 1-4) in which she claimed

to be the only heir of William Robert Williams (R. 3); and on October 28 she was appointed administratrix of the estates of both William Robert and Sarah Corless Williams (R. 8). On February 27, 1959, appellant filed a verified petition alleging, *inter alia*, that as the adopted daughter of decedents she was entitled to inherit from William Robert Williams on an equal basis with Inez Williams Warshaw (R. 31). The trial court thereafter permitted an amendment to the petition setting out that appellant was entitled to inherit from decedents by virtue of a contract in which they promised to adopt her; thereafter the parties proceeded as if an amended petition had been filed. In her petition appellant also described the contents of an holographic will written by William Robert Williams in September of 1956, read by appellant, and believed by appellant to have been in existence at the time of death of William Robert Williams. The Administratrix filed an answer denying those allegations in appellant's petition (R. 23). On June 5, 1959, the administratrix's Motion for Summary Judgment was granted by the Hon. Stewart M. Hanson (R. 54). The order, in addition to dismissing the petition, purported to find facts as follows:

"1. That there was no valid holographic will existing at the time of the death of the Decedents William R. Williams and Sarah Corless Williams or either of them.

"2. That the Petitioner Gladys Williams, also known as Tania Karol, was not and never was the adopted daughter of Decedents William R. Williams and Sarah Corless Williams or either of them.

"3. That during all times mentioned herein there was no valid and enforceable agreement by Decedents William R. Williams and Sarah Corless Williams, or

either of them, to adopt Petitioner Gladys Wililams, also known as Tania Karol.” (R. 53-54).

It is well settled that on a Motion for Summary Judgment the moving litigant must show that there is no genuine issue in respect to any material fact and that he is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law; also that all substantial doubts are to be resolved against him. Accordingly, the facts to be considered in determining whether the trial court's action was proper are those found in the pleadings, appellant's answers to interrogatories, and the deposition of Inez Williams Warsaw. The facts the trial court was obligated to consider are set out below.

When appellant was about three weeks old she was taken by members of the Relief Society of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints, with permission of her natural mother, Mrs. Carroll, to the home of the Williamses to be cared for until such time as Mrs. Carroll was physically and financially able to care for the child (R. 44). When appellant was about one year old, Mrs. Carroll felt capable of caring for the child and went to the home of the Williamses for the purpose of taking the child back (R. 44). On her arrival at the Williams home Mrs. Carroll was told that Mrs. Williams' health had been delicate, that she had previously lost a child and could bear no more children, that she had come to love appellant as her own child, and that if appellant were taken from her, medical complications might result (R. 45). Mrs. Carroll was asked to consent to the Williamses' keeping appellant and raising her as their own. She was told that if she gave this consent the Williamses would love appellant, give her the same schooling and opportunities as their own daughter, and

raise her as their own child (R. 45). Mrs. Carroll then consented to such an arrangement but at first did not want to sign any papers in connection with release of her child (R. 42).

When she was about two years old, appellant's natural father and mother were divorced in a proceeding in the District Court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah. The Court in this action found that the Williamses were raising appellant in their own home with the knowledge and consent of both the Carrolls. Money was awarded to Mrs. Carroll for support of appellant's natural sister but not for appellant (R. 46).

At about this time Mrs. Carroll, in the company of her teenage son, went to the office of Ben Johnson, a Salt Lake City attorney, for advice regarding appellant (R. 42). The Williamses were insisting upon adoption of appellant (R. 42), and Mr. Johnson told Mrs. Carroll that this was the "best way" (R. 42). Shortly after this meeting with the attorney Mrs. Carroll, upon her return home one day, said she had "signed [appellant] away" and had been required to promise not to try to see appellant or tell her, if they ever met, that she was appellant's mother (R. 42).

During appellant's infancy her natural mother came to the Williams home on at least one occasion for the purpose of taking back the child, whereupon appellant was hidden by the Williamses (R. 67, p. 9). However, Mrs. Carroll went away, apparently satisfied, and there is no indication that any legal action was commenced to regain the custody of her child.

When appellant was eight or nine years old she was told by a neighbor's child that she was not the child of the Wil-



liamses but was adopted (R. 45). She was comforted by the Williamses and the Warshaws and assured that she was not adopted but was the child of the Williamses (R. 45).

A certificate of birth (R. 41) was entered of record May 5, 1918, by the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints, certifying, among other things, that appellant was born March 18, 1910, at Salt Lake City, Utah, and that her parents were William R. Williams and Sarah Corless Williams.

After appellant was an adult decedent William R. Williams purchased a burial plot for her adjacent to that of a son who had previously died (R. 45).

Appellant was held out to the world as the daughter of the Williams and was regarded as a sister by the administratrix, Inez Williams Warshaw (R. 67, p. 3). Appellant did not know that she was not the natural daughter of the Williamses until she was fourteen year old at which time she was told by a schoolmate that she had been adopted (R. 46).

From appellant's infancy until the decedents' deaths there were close parent-child relationships, and during that time decedents continually held appellant out to the world as their child, referring to themselves as her "loving parents" (R. 46).

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

1. A trier of fact could find that a contract to adopt appellant was entered into by decedents William Robert Williams or Sarah Corless Williams or both.

2. A contract to adopt, when fully performed by the natural parents and their child, will be specifically enforced.

## I

A TRIER OF FACTS COULD FIND THAT A CONTRACT TO ADOPT APPELLANT WAS ENTERED INTO BY DECEDENTS WILLIAM ROBERT WILLIAMS OR SARAH CORLESS WILLIAMS OR BOTH.

The development of facts evidencing occurrences of almost 50 years is a difficult and time-consuming task. It may be facilitated and shortened by the use of discovery procedures; but in this instance the administratrix and the court have insisted that appellant prove her case *now*—not at a trial. To place this burden upon appellant the administratrix has not even been required to submit affidavits as to what she contends the true facts to be. It is an odd procedure and an unusual burden; even if it were proper appellant has shown facts sufficient to establish a contract to adopt: the “signing away” of the infant child; the lawyer’s advice; the final acquiescence of the natural mother. Time may make other proof available (if weight is the problem); but facts already in the record tend to prove the contract: assumption of custody and control of appellant by the Williamses; relinquishment of custody and control by the natural parents; the Williamses holding appellant out to the world as their child and telling appellant throughout childhood that she was their natural, not even adopted child; giving appellant their name; causing her to be baptized as their own child; a continual pattern of the

relationship of parents and child throughout the Williamses lifetime.

1911-1912.

Many cases have dealt with the validity of and the quantum of proof necessary to establish contracts to adopt; and the courts have realistically recognized that such a contract usually must be proved by evidence other than a parchment scroll—signed, sealed and tied with blue ribbon.

In *Monahan v. Monahan* (1958) 14 Ill. (2d) 449, 153 NE 2d 1, the Supreme Court of Illinois approved the finding of an oral contract to adopt, the finding having been based upon evidence quite similar to that before the trial court in the instant case.

Testimony showed that the natural mother "gave" the *quasi* adopted child to the adoptive parents when the child was six years old. The adoptive parents had the child baptized in their own name when the child was nine years old. They entered the child in school as their "adopted child," continually referred to the child as their son, and in turn were by the child referred to as his "mom and dad." The child conducted himself as a loving and dutiful child and the adoptive parents continued to hold themselves out as his parents. The question, in this case, was whether or not a contract to adopt could be established purely by circumstantial evidence. The Court said:

"Certainly a contract to adopt as any other fact may be proved by circumstantial evidence, provided that evidence meets the requisite tests of sufficiency."

The same viewpoint was adopted in *Roberts v. Roberts*

(1915), 223 Fed. 775, by the United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit, the Court saying:

"The argument by which we are asked to reverse the decree is that there was no direct or clear evidence of an agreement to adopt at the time Myra J. Roberts was received into the family of Charles Roberts. There is good reason why such evidence is wanting. All of the parties to the transaction are dead, and Myra J. Roberts was herself a babe at the time of the adoption. It seems to us that in such a case it is not necessary that the court first have direct proof of the making of the contract, and then proceed forward from the contract thus established to the conduct evidencing its existence. We think it is possible to reverse that process, and if the statements and conduct of the adopting parents are such as to furnish clear and satisfactory proof that an agreement of adoption must have existed, then the agreement may be found as an inference from that evidence."

In *In re Garcia's Estate* (1940) 45 N. M. 8, 107 P.2d 866, the plaintiff had been taken into the home of the decedents when she was about seven years old. The decedents had promised the plaintiff's uncle, who stood *in loco parentis*, to adopt her. From this time on she was continually held out to the world both as the decedents' daughter and as their adopted daughter, was baptized with the name of the decedents, entered in school by the decedents and given away in marriage by the decedents in conformance to a Spanish custom. The promise to adopt was never fulfilled. The question, in this case, was one of sufficiency of proof, a New Mexico statute requiring corroboration in suits against heirs. In upholding the decree for specific performance of the contract to adopt, the Court said:

" \* \* \* the agreement may be established either as an express or implied contract provided the proof offered is of the convincing character required in cases of this kind \* \* \* . It is not necessary that the corroboration of the plaintiff's testimony be afforded by direct evidence. If this is not available, the corroboration required by the statute may arise from circumstances."

In *Van Tine v. Van Tine* (N. J.) 15 Atl. 249, there was no written agreement of any kind, but the *quasi* adopted child's father gave the child to the adoptive parents when the child was only a few months old. The child was raised by the *quasi* adoptive parents, baptized by them and given their name, by which name the child was always called, both by the adoptive parents and neighbors and relatives. The child was raised in the belief that she was the natural child of her adoptive parents, and did not learn differently until she was over the age of 18. The adoptive parents left a will, giving to the virtually adopted child much of their property, but leaving other property not disposed of. The Court held that the parol agreement to adopt would be enforced, and the child entitled to inherit the property as if she had been adopted according to the statutes.

*Furman v. Craine* (1912) 18 Cal. 41, 121 Pac. 1007, involved an alleged written agreement to adopt, wherein the parents forever surrendered to adoptive parents the control, custody and society and relinquished all claims and rights to the child, but the complete instrument was not found or entered in evidence. Only "a mutilated copy, containing little of the substance of the agreement" was introduced. Further testimony showed that the natural parents released the control, custody

and society of the four-year-old child and from that time on, the *quasi* adoptive parents took charge of the child and raised her as a member of the family, and that the child, throughout her life, until the death of the *quasi* adoptive parents, conducted herself at all times as a dutiful child. The Court decreed specific performance of the contract and held that the child was entitled to inherit the decedents' property as if a natural child.

The record in the instant case contained sufficient evidence to support a finding that there was a contract to adopt. Moreover, it also contained material from which it should have been apparent to the trial court that other evidence might be obtained by appellant prior to trial time. Accordingly, the judgment should be reversed since, as shown below, contracts to adopt are specifically enforceable.

## II

### A CONTRACT TO ADOPT, WHEN FULLY PERFORMED BY THE NATURAL PARENTS AND THEIR CHILD, WILL BE SPECIFICALLY ENFORCED.

The above point is a paraphrase of a legal rule accepted by the great majority of courts that have been asked to enforce contracts to adopt. The view is referred to in 2 C.J.S., Adoption, § 27(6), p. 399, as follows:

" \* \* \* Under the principle that equity will consider that done which ought to have been done, the authorities very generally establish the proposition that a contract by a person to adopt the child of another as his own, accompanied by a virtual, although not a

statutory adoption, and acted upon by both parties during the obligor's life, may be enforced, upon the death of the obligor, by adjudging the child entitled to a natural child's share in the property of the obligor who dies without disposing of his property by will."

This court has not specifically considered the enforceability of contracts to adopt; but enough courts have found them enforceable that the numbers—even without the reasons—might tend to establish the soundness of the view that such contracts should be enforced. The following cases are representative, not exhaustive.

A leading and frequently cited case is *Chehak v. Battles* (1907) 133 Iowa 107, 110 N.W. 330, in which a *quasi* adopted child claimed a right in the estate of the deceased *quasi* adoptive parents, pursuant to a written agreement signed by the child's natural mother, and the deceased *quasi* adoptive parents, which contract recited that the natural mother gave the *quasi* adoptive parents her child for the purpose of adoption, and stated that such child "shall be named as they shall seem fit, and bear the name of Battles", and the *quasi* adoptive parents covenanted "that they and each of them accept the rights, duties and relations of a parent to this child, and shall in all respect be that of a child born to themselves in the state of wedlock, and that the same shall include all of the rights of inheritance by law." A statutory adoption was never attempted. The Court decreed that the contract should be specifically enforced regardless of the statutory requirements for a completed adoption. In its opinion, the Court said:

"Though a contract of adoption could not be sustained in common law, the courts of equity enforce

such contracts whether oral or in writing with respect to property rights involved \* \* \* . The obligations of such a contract as of others are mutual, and the peculiarities of it, such as emphasize the right of him who has faithfully performed his part of it to that portion stipulated by the other party. It is impossible to estimate by any pecuniary standard the value to the parties receiving a child, nor is there any design of so measuring the service and solace bestowed. The nature of the contract necessarily precludes all thought of returning the consideration, and after the mother has yielded the possession of her child with all that this means, and it has lived until majority as a dutiful and loving son or daughter with those who have promised to cherish him or her as their own, and that he or she shall share their estate, it is beyond the power of the adopted parents or the courts to place the mother or child in the situation in which they were before the agreement was entered into. There is no such thing in cases like this as placing the parties in *status quo*, and the remedy must be specifically enforcing the contract or the denial of rights which have been fully earned, and in good conscience and justice ought to be enforced."

California courts will enforce contracts to adopt. See 2 Cal. Jur. 2d 424; also, *In re Radovich's Estate* (1956), 48 Cal. 2d 116, 308 P. 2d 14, in which the Court said:

"There can be no question but that the agreement was valid, and that Judge Clark correctly decided George is entitled to distribution of all of the estate of the decedent."

This case was concerned directly with the question of whether or not, for inheritance tax purposes, the *quasi* adopted child was entitled to the exemption granted by statute to a



natural or adopted child, but the Court expressed no concern over the lower court decreeing specific performance of an oral agreement to adopt a seventeen-year-old child, where there had been no statutory adoption but the agreement had been fully performed on the part of the child, and the natural parents had relied on this agreement.

In *Fisher v. Davidson* (1917) 271 Mo. 195, 195 S.W. 1024, a husband and wife had assumed possession and control of a three-year-old child under an agreement to take and raise her as their own child, the child to assume the name of the adoptive parents. They took the child into their home, changed her name and thereafter until death, a considerable period of time, treated her as their child, she being commonly known in the circle in which they moved as their child. The Court held that in equity she would be deemed to be the adopted child and entitled to inherit the property of her adoptive parents.

In *Ezell v. Mobley* (1925) 160 Ga. 872, 129 S.E. 532, the Court held that a parol obligation to adopt a child of another accompanied by a virtual, though not a statutory, adoption, is sufficient to warrant the enforcement of such obligation in equity by decreeing the *quasi* adopted child to be entitled to a natural child's share in *quasi* adoptive parents' estate, in the event of the latter's intestacy, and upheld the right of a virtually adopted child to contest the will of her foster parents.

Many other cases, in a substantial number of jurisdictions, recognize and enforce contracts to adopt, both written and oral. See 2 A.L.R. 1190; 69 A.L.R. 35; 33 A.L.R. 741; *In re*

*Biehn's Estate* (1933) 41 Ariz. 403, 18 P.2d 1112; *Wooley v. Shell Petroleum Corporation* (1935) 39 N.M. 256, 45 P.2d 927; *Bedal v. Johnson* (1923) 37 Idaho 359, 218 Pac. 641; *In re Stoiber's Estate* (1937) 101 Colo. 192, 72 P.2d 276; *Wright v. Wright* (1894) 99 Mich. 170, 58 N.W. 54; *McElvain v. McElvain* (1902) 171 Mo. 244, 71 S.W. 142; *Burns v. Smith* (1898) 21 Mont. 251, 53 Pac. 742.

It takes an Alice-in-Wonderland type of imagination to conceive any reasons of public policy that would prevent a child from sharing in his *de facto* adoptive parents' estate merely because the parents had failed to do what they promised to do. The right of a child to inherit has nothing to do with the formalities necessary, under our adoption statutes, to foreclose natural parents from reclaiming their children; and *Taylor v. Waddoups* (1952) 121 Utah 279, 241 P.2d 157, involving a dispute between natural and adoptive parents over custody of a child, does not touch our problem.

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