1959

# In the Matter of the Estates of William Robert Williams and Sarah Corless Williams, Gladys Williams aka Tania Karol : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

PETITIONER DID NOT OFFER TO PRODUCE ANY EVIDENCE OF ANY CONTRACT MADE AND SIGNED IN THE PRESENCE OF THE COURT AS REQUIRED BY THE STATUTES OF UTAH.

The brief of petitioner, in substance and effect, requests this court to ignore, repeal or disregard the statutes of this State relating to contracts for the adoption of minor children; and to pay no attention to the many cases decided by this court relating to that subject.

The transaction, out of which petitioner claims her rights to inherit as an adopted daughter, had its inception shortly after the birth of petitioner when she was taken into the home of decedents. She claims and alleges that there was a contract between her natural mother and decedents, entered into when petitioner was nine (9) months old, by which decedents agreed to adopt petitioner. She believes it was in writing, but she has no one to so testify or to give evidence as to its contents, and if it was oral she has no one who was present to testify as to what was said. There were no court proceedings in conformity with the statute.

Petitioner was approximately three years old when her mother filed her suit for divorce in 1913, so the purported contract upon which petitioner must rely was made in late 1910 or early 1911. It makes no difference. The law in both years was the same, and is substantially the same today. In 1910 and 1911 it was as follows:

Compiled Laws of Utah 1917.

“13. (4.) CONSENT OF CHILD'S PARENTS NECESSARY, WHEN. A legitimate child cannot be adopted without the consent of its parents, if living, nor an illegitimate child without the consent of its mother, if living, except that consent is not necessary from a father or mother deprived of civil rights, or adjudged guilty of adultery, cruelty, or desertion, and for either cause divorced, or adjudged to be a habitual drunkard, or who has been judicially deprived of the custody of the child on account of cruelty, neglect, or desertion.”

“15. (6.) HEARING. PROCEEDINGS. The person adopting a child and the child adopted

and the other persons whose consent is necessary, *must* appear before the judge of the district court of the county where the person adopting resides, and the necessary consent *must* thereupon be *signed and an agreement be executed by the person adopting to the effect that the child shall be adopted and treated in all respects as his own lawful child; provided*, that if the persons whose consent is necessary are not within the county, then their written consent, duly acknowledged in the manner provided for the acknowledgment of deeds, shall be filed in said district court at the time of the application for adoption." (Emphasis added)

"16. (7.) DECREE. The judge must examine all persons appearing before him pursuant to the preceding section, each separately, and, if satisfied that the interests of the child will be promoted by the adoption, he must make out an order declaring that the child shall thenceforth be regarded and treated in all respects as the child of the person adopting."

"17. (8.) CHILD TAKES FAMILY NAME. STATUS. A child, when adopted, may take the family name of the person adopting. After adoption, the two shall sustain the legal relation of parent and child, and have all the rights and be subject to all the duties of that relation."

"18. (9.) RIGHTS AND DUTIES OF PARENTS. The parents of an adopted child are, from the time of the adoption, relieved of all parental duties towards and all responsibility for the child so adopted, and shall have no rights over it."

No such proceeding was had, and petitioner knows of no one living today who can or would testify that they ever saw any such written agreement, what its contents were, or who signed it.

The following cases from this court have determined the necessity of compliance with our statutory requirements in order to produce a binding and valid contract establishing the relationship of parent and child by adoption.

*Taylor v. Waddoups*

121 Utah 257, 241 Pac. 2d 157

In this case the mother of a child actually signed the contract, but changed her mind before the Court had approved it. It was signed before a Notary Public, which could have been done before 1941 by persons absent from the State. This Court held the contract, not in conformity with the statute no good.

\* \* \* "It is obvious that the so-called consent to adoption was not made in conformity with the governing statutes, which require that it be signed before the district court of the county where the person adopting resides."

\* \* \*

"1. Upon the revision of the adoption laws by the 1941 Legislature, this last quoted portion of the statute was deleted. The statute no longer sanctions the relinquishment of a child for adoption before a notary public. Such relinquishment is required to be done before a court. The adoptive parents, the child adopted, and the natural parents or persons whose consent is necessary, must appear before the district court where the consent must be signed, and the agreement executed that the child shall be treated as the lawful child of the adoptive parents:"

\* \* \*

"2. The purpose of this requirement is that the court, representing the public, can see that the

parents when they consent to the adoption of their children are informed and fully understand the effect of the act which they are performing. The court shall endeavor to protect the parents from fraud, misrepresentation or undue influence in the obtaining of their consent. Ofttimes, consents of adoption are signed by parents while under great emotional strain, and, as in this case, they may be signed while the parent is suffering from discouragement and despair. To conduce the welfare of all concerned, this safeguard is established as an assurance that the parents have duly considered the consequences of their act. The Legislature has deemed this contract to be of too great importance to permit it to be signed before a notary public without the benefit of consultation with, and supervision by, a court."

The law was the same when this purported contract was alleged to have been made without Court approval.

*In Re Adoption of D.....*

122 Utah 525, 252 Pac. 2d 223

"2, 3. \* \* \* When the purported relinquishment was signed, the mother was up against an impossible situation, both economically and on account of her health; but the most important and controlling fact was that the purported consent was not executed before the court as required by statute, but was an attempt to execute a consent in a manner not authorized by law. \* \* \*"

*In Re Adoption of Walton*

123 Utah 380, 259 Pac. 2d 881

Natural father of child had not given consent to adoption. Here is what this Court said on this point. It is right in point and determinative of this case.

“1-4. \* \* \* Courts have not hesitated to build a strong fortress around the parent-child relation, and have stocked it with ammunition in the form of established rules that add to its impregnability. To sever the relationship successfully, one must have abandoned the child, and such abandonment must be specific intent so to do, — an intent to sever all correlative rights and duties incident to the relationship. Such intent must be proved by him who asserts it, by proof that not only preponderates, but which must be clear and satisfactory, — something akin to that degree of proof necessary to establish an offense beyond a reasonable doubt, or, as one authority puts it ‘by clear and indubitable evidence.’ The relationship has been considered a bundle of human rights of such fundamental importance as to lead courts frequently to say that consent is at the foundation of adoption statutes, that evidence pertaining to it must be appraised in a light most favorable to him whose parental right is assaulted, that adoption statutes being in derogation of the common law are to be construed strictly in favor of the parent and the preservation of the relationship, (although not the rule in Utah) and that all doubts are resolved against its destruction. The authorities have gone so far in their protection of these kinship rights as to hold that an abandonment, even though a fait accompli, can be the subject of repentance, absent vested rights in others. Ofttimes it is pointed out that abandonment, within the meaning of adoption statutes, must be conduct evincing ‘a settled purpose to forego all parental duties and relinquish all parental claims to the child.’ \* \* \* The importance of preserving the relationship clearly is pointed up when one considers the well-established concept that custody may be awarded in a proper case, while the courts may have no power to sever the relationship, — accounting for the principle

that the welfare of the child is of great importance in custody cases, but quite immaterial in adoption cases until an effective abandonment of parental rights is shown. Were the rule otherwise, and an indiscriminate sanction of the dispossession of parental rights without consent were attempted, serious constitutional impedimenta no doubt would loom large under the due process clause." \* \* \*

Mr. Carroll never consented to any contract of adoption. Appellant's proffered evidence not only proved that there was no such contract, but if there was one by the mother it was a nullity because the father did not join.

*Devoreaux' Adoption v. Brown*

2 Utah 2d 30, 268 Pac. 2d 995

This Court, in this most recent case, left no doubt as to the necessity of consent and Court approval to any contract of adoption.

"1, 2. The Juvenile Court having placed the children with the State Department of Public Welfare for 'foster home care, treatment, and supervision' while requiring the father to pay for such care, the question to be determined is whether such action is a judicial deprivation of the custody of such children an account of cruelty, neglect or desertion within the meaning of the above section, so that the consent of the natural parents is not necessary in adoption proceedings. We think not. Once a child is adopted its ties to its natural parents, unlike in cases involving mere custody, is permanently severed. Such a result, without the consent of the legitimate, natural parents, has not been favored by courts, it being considered that the natural relationship between parents and child

is of an enduring and sacred character. Adoption proceedings are statutory and based on consent. So where statutes dispense with the consent of a legitimate natural parent who for some misconduct has been deprived of the custody of his child, a strict construction is given such statutes in cases in which the natural parent contests the adoption." \* \* \*

See also *Petition of Thompson*, 100 Utah 59, 110 Pac. 2d 370; and *Application of Morse*, 7 Utah 2nd 312, 324 Pac. 2d 773.

There are many cases from other jurisdictions. We give but a few to show that Utah is not peculiar in this regard.

Many of the arguments presented in this case about "equitable adoption" etc., were presented to the Supreme Court of California, in Banc, in *Re Taggart's Estate*, 190 Cal. 493, 213 Pac. Rep. 504. By unanimous decision the Court refused to adopt the program that would destroy the legal safeguards that surround this relationship.

*Vaughan v. Hubbard* (Idaho), 221 Pac. Rep. 1107.

*In Re Reimer's Estate* (Wash.), 259 Pac. Rep. 32.

*In Re Meyers' Estate* (Ore.), 254 Pac. 2d 227.

*Fackrell v. District Court* (Colo.), 295 Pac. 2d 682.

*In Re Smith's Estate* (Wash.), 299 Pac. 2d 550.

*Brassiell v. Brassiell* (Miss.), 87 So. 2d 699.

*Cooper v. Bradford* (Ark.), 117 S.W. 2d 719.

*In Re Garlow's Estate* (Mich.), 21 N. W. 2d 178.

*In Re Olson's Estate* (Minn.), 70 N. W. 2d 107.

*Killen v. Klebanoff*, *In Re Sherman's Estate* (Conn.), 98 Atl. 2d 520.

*Glass, Administratrix v. Glass* (Ohio), 125 N. E. 2d 375.

*Couch v. Couch, et al.* (Tenn.), 248 S. W. 2d 327.

*Marietta v. Faulkner* (Ala.), 126 So. 635.

We would be less than frank with this court if we did not admit that there are some jurisdictions where the law is less strict on these matters than in Utah. There are some states that have permitted adoptions to be established by contract only, and the existence of a contract of adoption to be established by circumstantial evidence, which is what petitioner is seeking to establish in this case, and there are still at this late date, some States where common law adoptions, common law marriages and other types of relationships, producing rights of inheritance, may be loosely and informally created, which are recognized by the courts. Utah has never been, and is not now, one of those jurisdictions; and is not alone in that policy. A great majority of the States have adhered to the policy that adoptions, and the making of agreements of adoption should be more and more strictly supervised; and are throwing the protecting arm of the court, as the third party to the contract, and the Welfare Agencies, around this most hazardous and important transaction.

The cases cited by appellant are fairly representative of the minority group. Most of the cases can be distinguished, and the California case cited by appellant, *Rad-*

*ovich's Estate*, 48 Cal. 2d 116, 308 Pac. 2d 14, is not in point at all. The case turned on the doctrine of *stare decisis* and was not decided on the merits. We submit that the law in this State has already been established by statute and decisions, and that there is no purpose in seeing what other states think of this.

Throughout appellant's brief the relationship between individuals who are raised in the households of others and the persons thus bestowing parental affection on children not their own is referred to as "quasi" adopted and "de facto" adopted. There may be some types of relationships where something less than the real thing acquires a status which the law recognizes as of sufficient legal significance to be substantially equal to the real thing. In corporate and some types of contractual relationships this is true in Utah. However, in Utah both the right of inheritance and the relationship of adoptive parent and child, which carries with it the right of inheritance, is purely statutory. Family ties, as such, are closely guarded in Utah. Utah was one of the earliest States to adopt laws establishing vital statistics so that there will be certainty on this subject, and to safeguard the family relationship against unauthorized expansion through "de facto" and "quasi" relationships in favor of individuals who are granted home and affection by members of the family of another.

Utah has never felt that it should make the extension of brotherly love or the mandate of the Redeemer to love thy neighbor as thyself and to look after and protect the orphan and the fatherless a hazardous enterprise simi-

lar to the dangers of permitting your neighbor to traverse unimpeded across your land. To this date, in this State of Utah, we have been able to open our doors to the homeless and extend aid to the friendless without fear that some "vested" rights will be initiated or established which may arise to "bite the hand that fed" after those who could speak are no longer here to testify.

We have, by statute, prescribed the method, *and the only method*, by which such a relationship may be established.

This was not a case of ignorance or of faulty execution or performance. According to the testimony which petitioner would adduce, Mrs. Carroll went to her lawyer, Mr. Ben Johnson, who was her attorney in her divorce case, to find out about the law of adoption in Utah, and she was fully informed on the subject. They never went ahead with the legal adoption, because it would have required the consent of the father, and right at that time the mother was primarily interested in getting a divorce from her husband; and in order to do so she was denying the very thing that petitioner says she did.

So, in the absence of some proof or offer of proof of a contract of adoption, with the consent of the father (Mr. Carroll) in compliance — or even attempted compliance — with the above quoted sections of our statutes, the trial court very properly found that there was no genuine issue to be tried.

No end of confusion and litigation could result if these basic barriers to orderly and established relation-

ships can be thus destroyed through acts of humanity and kindness.

Appellant states that we are concerned with a matter of property rights, not right to custody, and that our courts have not hesitated to specifically enforce contracts under which property is to be disposed of in a certain way upon death. Counsel fails to distinguish between contracts to devise property in a certain way, as illustrated by the Utah cases cited in appellant's brief, and contracts to create a status, such as marriage and adoption, which require State approval. The contract to devise is enforceable regardless of any will that may be made, whereas a contract for status is subject to the right of testamentary disposition.

However, our courts have steadfastly refused to grant the right to inherit to individuals occupying a "de facto" or "quasi" status where the necessary steps to create that status in accordance with the statute have not been complied with.

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